ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 The Circuit Court of Fayette County erred in granting summary judgment on all of 
Plaintiff s claims where genuine issues of material fact existed and where summary 
judgment was not proper as a matter oflaw. Specifically: 

A. The Circuit Court of Fayette County erred in granting summary judgment on 
Plaintiff s West Virginia Human Rights Act claim where genuine issues of material 
fact existed which tended to establish that Plaintiff was discriminated against based 
upon his disability or perceived disability in violation of West Virginia law. 

B. The Circuit Court of Fayette County erred in granting summary judgment on 
Plaintiff s Workers' Compensation discrimination claim where genuine issues of 
material fact existed which tended to establish that Plaintiff was discouraged from 
filing a workers' compensation claim and was discriminated against based upon his 
efforts to do so. 

C. The Circuit Court of Fayette County erred when it granted summary judgment as 
to Plaintiffs claim for violation of West Virginia public policy, as genuine issues of 
material fact existed which tended to establish that Plaintiff's termination was in 
violation of established West Virginia public policy. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case arises from the wrongful termination of Plaintiff Scott Comer by Defendant 

Priority Ambulance, LLC, [hereinafter "Priority"]. In approximately 2012, Scott Comer began 

his employment as a paramedic with Priority. During the course of his employment, Mr. Comer 

received only one reprimand, and his employer later testified that Mr. Comer was a "fairly good 

employee." (testimony included infra.) 

In or about June of 2015, Mr. Comer was injured in the course of and resulting from his 

employment, while lifting a heavy patient on an emergency call. Mr. Comer's injuries at that 

time included pain to his shoulder, a diminished range of motion, and a tingling sensation. Mr. 

Comer immediately reported the injury to his supervisor. Subsequently, Mr. Comer was advised 

that he should not apply for workers' compensation, as it would place a financial burden on 

Priority. Instead, Mr. Comer was promised time off to heal. In exchange for Mr. Comer's 
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agreement to forego a workers' compensation claim, he was given time off to heal with salary. 

Mr. Comer returned to work and in December of 2015 reinjured his should in the course 

of and resulting from his employment. Again, Mr. Comer immediately reported his work injury 

to his supervisor. Again, Mr. Comer inquired into filing a workers; compensation claim and was 

encouraged not to file a workers' compensation claim. Instead, Priority advised Mr. Comer that 

it would pay his out-of-pocket medical expenses. However, when out-of-pocket medical expense 

bills were provided to Priority, Priority not only failed to fulfill its promise to Mr. Comer to pay 

those expenses, but it canceled health insurance coverage for Mr. Comer and all other 

employees. 

Moreover, the December injury rendered Mr. Comer temporarily and totally disabled, 

and he was unable to fulfill his work duties without a reasonable accommodation. Beginning on 

or about February 18, 2016, Priority fulfilled its obligation to reasonably accommodate Mr. 

Comer's injury, disability, and restrictions by providing a "lifter" to his crew. On May 20, 2016, 

without reason, Priority determined that it was no longer obligated to offer Mr. Comer a 

reasonable accommodation and terminated his employment. 

On or about June 21, 2016, Plaintiff filed his Complaint in this action. Plaintiff asserts 

that Defendant terminated him in violation of W.Va. Code Section 23-5A-l et seq.; the West 

Virginia Human Rights Act; and West Virginia public policy. Plaintiff further asserts that 

Defendant's actions following his unlawful termination rose to the level of malicious prosecution 

(this charge was later voluntarily dismissed.) Subsequently, Defendant filed its answer, 

generally denying the allegations set forth in the Complaint. 

On April 6, 2017, counsel for Plaintiff deposed a corporate representative for Priority 

pursuant to Rule 30(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Incredibly, Priority, 
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whose staff had minimal human resources training, indicated it did not have to provide Mr. 

Comer with a reasonable accommodation for his workplace injury. Priority further testified that 

it was unaware of the nature of Mr. Comer's disability, even though Mr. Comer's medical work 

excuses were found'i'n the personnel file that Priority produced during discovery. Despite this, 

Priority further testified that it believed that Mr, Comer hadn't been attending his medical 

appointments, 

Specifically, Priority's corporate representative testified as follows with regard to 

Plaintiff, his work, his injury, his disability, and the need to accommodate his disability: 

Q: 	 Would it be a fair statement to say up until the time of around May 2015, 
Scott Comer was a fairly good employee? 

A: 	 Oh, yeah, yes, 

Q: 	 Was he a fairly good employee after May of2015? 

A: I suppose. 

[APP 0081]. 

Q: 	 Tell me about the document Ijust handed you? 

A: 	 This is Scott's paper from MedExpress saying, light duty, right arm, no 
lifting more than 25 pounds. 

Q: 	 When you received that, what changes were made to his job at Priority? 

A: 	 We hired a driver to lift for him, we call them lifters. 

['...] 

Q: 	 Was it your understanding at that time that you were legally required to 
make that accommodation for him, the lifter? 

A: 	 No. 

Q: 	 So is it your understanding that if you would have chosen to do so, you 
could have fired him at that point? 
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[... ] 


A: 	 Are you asking me if I would have fired him because he got hurt? 

Q: 	 No, I'm saying, could you have, under your understanding. 

A: No. 

[APP 0082 - 0084]. 

Q: 	 Now, you had stated a few minutes ago that you received no further 
updates regarding his medical status. What are those though? And'I'm 
referring to three through five. 

A: 	 This is- these are light duties. I honestly never noticed the tear in the 
rotator cuff, biceps, tendon. That is - that sounds like what he read to us 
over the text though. 

Q: 	 Okay. And this was provided to me from his personnel file. Correct? 

A: Yes. 

[APP 0085 - 0086]. 

Q: 	 Is it your testimony that at one point Priority decided that it would strip 
Mr. Comer of his lifter? 

A: 	 I guess. I don't really-

Q: 	 You're going to have to give me a more responsive answer. 

A: 	 We were no longer going to pay for a lifter, if that's what you mean. 

[...] 

Q: 	 Are you qualified to make the kind of diagnosis as to when Mr. Comer, 
with a torn rotator cuff, would be able to return to regular duty? 

A: No, I'm not a physician. 


Q:. Is Mr. Gadmoski? 


A: 	 No. 

Q: 	 Is Ms. Dunn? 
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A: 	 No. 

Q: 	 Is the 49 percent shareholder? 

A: 	 Tom, no. 

Q: 	 So the people at this company who made this decision didn't really have 
the basis for doing so, did they? 

A: 	 Yeah, we did. If we are helping you and continuing to pay a third person 
for you, you should keep your appointments, you should go to them, you 
should try to get better if you have an injury. I mean, why would you.not. 
How long did he think we were going to do that? 

[...] 

Q: 	 So the one - the only time in Scott's whole employment that you have any 
notation that he missed a doctor's appointment was once when he talked to 
her on the phone instead. Correct? 

A: That's documented, yes. 

[APP 0087 -0091]. 

Further, as to any allegation the Defendant has attempt to make regarding inability to 

afford a lifter for Mr. Comer, Defendant has failed to assert such an affirmative defense. 

Moreover, when questioned regarding financial motives, Defendant provided no proof. Again, 

the corporate representative testified as follows: 

Q: 	 No.2. The specific details surrounding all monetary or other 
considerations regarding the alleged termination or dismissal of Mr. 
Comer including, but not limited to, personnel decisions, hiring, firing, 
reductions in force, any and all lost profits, and any and all cost reduction 
plans. Which documents have you provided in response to No.2? 

A: I don't think there's any that - to go with that. 

[APP0095] 

Despite the foregoing, the Circuit Court of Fayette County ruled that summary judgment 

was proper for each of the Plaintiff's claims. Mr. Comer asserts that the grant of summary 
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judgment was improper. He respectfully requests that this Court remand this matter for a trial on 

the merits in accordance with well-established West Virginia law. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court of Fayette County erred when it granted summary judgment for the 

Defendant. In its order, the circuit court ignored well-established West Virginia law regarding 

summary judgment in employment cases. It also ignored common law regarding each of Mr. 

Comer's specific claims and deprived Mr. Comer of an opportunity to have genuine issues of 

material fact decided by ajury. 

As to the grant of summary judgment, the circuit court ignored the well-established 

holding of this Court in employment discrimination that "[p]articularly in complex cases where 

issues involving motive and intent are present, summary judgment should not be utilized as a 

method of resolution." Kelly v. City of Williamson, 221 W.Va. 506, 510, 655 S.E.2d 528, 532 

(2007) (internal citation omitted); see also Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 61, 

459 S.E.2d 329, 338 (1995) ("[c]ourts take special care ... because state of mind, intent, and 

motives may be crucial elements."); West Virginia Human Rights Com'n v. Wilson Estates, Inc., 

202 W.Va. 152, 160, 503 S.E.2d 6, 14 (1998) ("[s]ummary judgment is often imprudent in 

discrimination cases that present issues of motive or intent because ... credibility determinations, 

the weighing of evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury 

functions, not those of a judge."). Specifically, the circuit court undertook to ignore the motive 

evidenced by both the timing of Mr. Comer's termination, as well as Priority's failure to provide 

a nondiscriminatory motive for the same. Rather, the circuit court favored one version of the 

facts as offered by Priority and determined that, based upon the rendering of the facts, summary 

judgment was proper. This was in error. 
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As to Mr. Comer's disability discrimination claim, the circuit court erred by disregarding 

clear evidence establishing both a prima facie case of disability discrimination and a genuine 

issue of material fact. Mr. Comer was able to establish that at the time of his termination (1) he 

",vas a disabled person within the meaning of the law; ·(2) that he was qualified to perform the 

essential functions of his job (either with or without reasonable accommodation); and (3) that his 

disability was a motivating factor in the defendant's decision to terminate him. See Skaggs v. Elk 

Run Coal Co., Inc., 198 W. Va. 51, 72, 479 S.E.2d 561,582 (1996). Further, Plaintiff established 

that (1) he was a qualified person with a disability; (2) Priority was aware of his disability; (3) he 

required an accommodation in order to perform the essential functions of the job; (4) a 

reasonable accommodation existed that would meet his needs; (5) Priority knew or should have 

known of the his needs and of the accommodation; and (6) Priority failed to provide the 

accommodation. Id. Despite the existence of these established elements of both a disability 

discrimination case and, specifically, a failure to accommodate claim, the circuit court granted 

Priority's motion for summary judgment. This was in error. 

Likewise, summary judgment was improper regarding Mr. Comer's claim for workers' 

compensation discrimination. Likewise, summary judgment was improper regarding Mr. 

Comer's claim for workers' compensation discrimination. Mr. Comer was able to establish 

through discover that "(1) an on-the-job injury was sustained; (2) proceedings were instituted 

under the Workers' Compensation Act, W.Va. Code § 23-1-1, et seq., and (3) the filing of a 

workers' compensation claim was a significant factor in the employer's decision to discharge or 

otherwise discriminate against the employee." Nestor, 210 W.Va. 692, 558 S.E.2d 691(2001) 

(emphasis added) (an attempt to file for workers' compensation benefits, though a claim is not 

formally instituted, is sufficient to satisfy element two). Despite the existence of these 
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established elements of a workers' compensation discrimination claim, the circuit court granted 

Priority's motion for summary judgment. This was in error. 

Finally, summary judgment was also improper regarding the Plaintiffs claim for 

. 	 . 
violation bf West Virginia Public Policy. Mr. Comer asserted that Defendants' discriminatory 

behavior as a result of his workplace injury and resulting disability violated a substantial public 

policy against adverse employment actions based upon such factors. See Conrad v. ARA Szabo, 

198 W.Va. 362, 370, 480 S.E.2d 801. 809 (1996). Mr. Comer further alleged that Priority's 

actions violated similar public policy disfavoring discrimination based upon an attempt to 

receive workers compensation benefits. Nestor, supra. Plaintiffs prima facie showing of both 

disability and workers' compensation discrimination merited the denial of summary judgment on 

Mr. Comer's public policy violation count. The circuit court's grant of summary judgment was 

in error. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The issues in this Appeal involve assignments of error in the application of well-settled 

employment law in the State of West Virginia. Therefore, a memorandum decision is not 

appropriate and oral argument under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 

is appropriate. 

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FAYETTE COUNTY ERRED IN GRANTING 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL OF PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS WIiERE 
GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED AND WHERE SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT WAS NOT PROPER AS A MATTER OF LAW. 

"A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no 

genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the 

application of the law." W.Va. R. Civ. P, Rule 56; SyI. Pt. 3, Cobb v. E.!. DuPont, 209 W.Va. 
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463, 549 S.E.2d 657 (1999). In Cobb the Court discussed the heavy burden a movant for 

summary judgment must meet under Rule 56: 

All reasonable doubts regarding the evidence must be resolved in favor of the 
non-moving party. "A party who moves for summary judgment has the burden of 
showing that there is no genuine issue of material fact and any aoubts as to the 
existence of such issues is resolved against the movant for such judgment." Syl. 
Pt. 6, Aetna Cas., 133 S.E.2d 770. In order for summary judgment to be proper, 
the movant must demonstrate that there is no evidence to support the non
movant's case and "that the evidence is so one-sided that the movant must prevail 
as a matter of law." Tolliver v. The Kroger Co., 201 W.Va. 509, 512, 498 S.E.2d 
702, 706 (1997). Id. at 660. In reviewing the facts propounded by the parties, all 
inferences are the be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. 
!d. 

Cobb, 209 W.Va. at 467,549 S.E.2d at 660. 

In employment discrimination and retaliation cases, the West Virginia Supreme Court has 

noted that "[p]articularly in complex cases where issues involving motive and intent are present, 

summary judgment should not be utilized as a method of resolution." Kelly v. City oj Williamson, 

221 W.Va. 506, 510, 655 S.E.2d 528, 532 (2007) (internal citation omitted). On a motion for 

summary judgment, the court cannot try issues of fact; a determination must be made only as to 

whether there are issues to be tried. Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W.Va. 99,464 S.E.2d 741 (1995). 

"[I]f there is any evidence in the record from any source from which a reasonable inference can 

be drawn in favor of the nonmoving party, summary judgment is improper." Id. (emphasis 

added). 

Generally, unless the employer can provide evidence of a dispositive nondiscriminatory 

reason, the conflict between plaintiff's prima Jacie case and the employer's evidence reflect a 

question of fact to be resolved by the jury. Id. Finally, it is well settled that with respect to 

employment and discrimination cases, "[c]ourts take special care ...because state of mind, intent, 

and motives may be crucial elements." Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52,61,459 
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S.E.2d 329, 338 (1995). The Court has explained that "[s]ummary judgment is often imprudent 

in discrimination cases that present issues of motive or intent because ... credibility 

determinations, the weighing of evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts 

are jury functions, not those of a judge." West Virginia Human Rights Com 'n v. Wilson Estates, 

Inc., 202 W.Va. 152, 160,503 S.E.2d 6, 14 (1998) (internal citations and quotations omitted). 

A. 	 The Circuit Court of Fayette County erred in granting summary judgment 
on Plaintiff's West Virginia Human Rights Act claim where genuine issues of 
material fact existed which tended to establish that Plaintiff was 
discriminated against based upon his disability or perceived disability in 
violation of West Virginia law. 

The circuit court's order misstates and misinterprets the base elements of a West Virginia 

Human Rights Act claim based upon a disability or a perceived disability. Put briefly, the circuit 

court adopted Defendant's sole argument as to Plaintiff's disability discrimination claim: that 

because Plaintiff was unable to perform the functions of his job without an accommodation, 

summary judgment was proper. This position is inherently flawed, as the this Court has been 

clear that in order to establish a prima facie case of disability discrimination a plaintiff must 

show (1) he is a disabled person within the meaning of the law; (2) that he is qualified to perform 

the essential functions of the job (either with or without reasonable accommodation); and (3) that 

the plaintiff's disability was a motivating factor in the defendant's decision to terminate him. 

Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., Inc., 198 W. Va. 51, 72, 479 S.E.2d 561,582 (1996). The showing 

that must be made to establish a prima facie case of discrimination is de minimis, and the issue of 

discriminatory animus is generally a question of fact for the jury. Nestor v. Bruce Hardwood 

Floors, L.P., 210 W.Va. 692,558 S.E.2d 691 (2001) (quoting Conrad v. ARA Szabo, 198 W.Va. 

362,370,480 S.E.2d 801. 809 (1996)). 

In order to state a claim for breach of the duty to accommodate a disability under the 
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West Virginia Human Rights Act, "a plaintiff may prove the following elements: (1) The 

plaintiff is a qualified person with a disability; (2) the employer was aware of the person's 

disability; (3) the plaintiff required an accommodation in order to perform the essential functions 

of the job; (4) a reasonable acco~odation existed that would meet the plaintiffs needs; (5)"The 

employer knew or should have known of the plaintiff s needs and of the accommodation; and (6) 

The employer failed to provide the accommodation." Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., Inc., 198 

W.Va. 51, 65,479 S.E.2d 561, 575 (1996). An employer may defend against such a claim by 

disputing any of the above elements, or by proving that such an accommodation would impose 

an undue burden. Id. 198 W.Va. at 66, 479 S.E.2d at 576. "The latter is an affirmative defense, 

upon which the employer bears the burden ofpersuasion." Id. (emphasis added). 

As an initial matter, Plaintiff argued below that the Circuit Court of Fayette County 

should disregard and exclude any argument made by Priority regarding its financial inability to 

continuing offering a reasonable accommodation to Plaintiff. See Skaggs, supra. During oral 

argument, counsel for Mr. Comer made this argument. [APP 0114]. Nonetheless, this argument 

or any ruling on the same is wholly absent from the circuit court's order granting summary 

judgment. [APP 0128-139]. If this matter were decided properly, Priority would not have been 

able to put forth an affirmative defense of undue burden, and Plaintiffs prima facie case of 

failure to provide a reasonable accommodation would have merited the denial of summary 

judgment. Moreover, even assuming, arguendo, that Priority did not waive its affirmative 

defense, it failed to produce one iota of evidence establishing that continuing to accommodate 

Mr. Comer would have been an undue burden. This, too, merited the denial of summary 

judgment. 

Below, Priority argued, and the circuit court agreed, that Plaintiff had not established a 
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prima facie case of his claims. If anything, the argument set forth by Priorit~ established that 

summary judgment for Plaintiff would be more proper on his disability discrimination claim and, 

certainly, established that summary judgment for Priority was improper. Priority did not dispute 

that Plaintiff was disabled or perceived as' being disabled. Priority acknowledged that it was 

aware of Plaintiffs disability, and to the extent Priority refuted that it was aware of Mr. Comer's 

disability, the medical records and excuses found in Priority's personnel file for Mr. Comer 

created a question for the trier of fact. Priority expressly stated that Mr. Comer required an 

accommodation to be able to perform his essential job functions. Priority's provision of a lifter 

established that Defendant knew or should have known of Mr. Comer's need for an 

accommodation. Finally, Priority openly acknowledged that it failed to continue providing an 

accommodation. 

Accordingly, there was abundant evidence, including Priority's own admissions and 

personnel file, which established the prima facie elements of a West Virginia Human Rights Act 

disability discrimination claim. Priority waived its ability to utilize undue burden as an 

affirmative defense and, further, did not offer a nondiscriminatory motive for terminating Mr. 

Comer. As such, the grant of summary judgment was improper and Plaintiff respectfully 

requests that this Honorable Court remand this matter for a trial on the merits before the trier of 

fact. 

B. 	 The Circuit Court of Fayette County erred in granting summary judgment 
on Plaintiff's Workers' Compensation discrimination claim where genuine 
issues of material fact exist~d which tended to establish that Plaintiff was 
discouraged from filing a workers' compensation claim and was 
discriminated against based upon his efforts to do so. 

Again, Priority's motion and the circuit court's order oversimplified the law regarding 

discrimination. Priority alleged that the lack of an active workers' compensation claim at the 
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time of Mr. Comer's firing was dispositive. l The circuit court adopted this logic and made it 

central to its decision to grand summary judgment. [APP 0128-193]. This was erroneous. 

The law of this state is clear that under West Virginia Code § 23-5A-l, et seq., it is 

. unlawful for any employer to discriminate in any manrter against any of its employees because of 

the employee's receipt of or attempt to receive Workers' Compensation benefits. Nestor, 210 

W.Va. 692, 558 S.E.2d 691 (emphasis added). In order to make a prima facie case of

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