IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


SCOTT COMER, 


Plaintiff below/Petitioner, 

v. 	 Case No. 17-0725 
Underlying Civil Action No. 16-C-182(B) 
Circuit Court of Fayette County, WV 

PRIORITY AMBULANCE, LLC, a domestic 
limited liability corporation, 

Defendant belowlRespondent. 

SUMMARY RESPONSE OF RESPONDENT 

COMES now the Defendant below and the Respondent herein, Priority Ambulance, LLC, 

a domestic limited liability corporation, by and through its counsel, Christopher S. Moorehead, 

and for its Summary Response to Petitioner's Brief, states as follows: 

I. Factual Overview

ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED 

1. Argument 

In the Complaint Count One consists of nine (9) paragraphs, with only five (5) of those 

paragraphs setting forth facts to support the caption. In that regard, paragraph 44 states 

"Defendant, at all times material, was aware of Plaintiffs ability and desire to perform jobs open 

and available with Defendant." Paragraph 45 further states "At all times material, Defendant 

knew or should have known ofPlaintiffs desire to remain employed." 

Paragraph 46 states "At all times after his injury, Plaintiff was disabled or was regarded 

by Defendant as being disabled." Lastly, paragraph 47 states "At all times material to this action, 

Plaintiff was able and competent to perform the essential functions of his job with reasonable 

accommodations. " 

It is worthy of note that there is no assertion regarding West Virginia Code 5-11-1 et seq. 

in the Complaint itself. In West Virginia Code 5-11-3, which sets forth definitions for 5-11-1, the 

West Virginia Human Rights Act, the definition of "disability" is "a mental or physical 

impairment which substantially limits one or more of such persons's major life activities. The 

term "major life activities" includes functions such as caring for one's self, performing manual 

tasks, walking, seeing, speaking, breathing, learning and working." 

The West Virginia Human Rights Act, which is set forth in West Virginia Code 5-11-2, 
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states with regard to employment "Equal opportunities in the area of employment and public 

accommodations is hereby declared to be a human right or civil right of all persons without 

regard to race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, blindness or disability." West 

Virginia Code 5-11-9 states "It shall be an unlawful and discriminatory practice, unless based 

upon a bona fide occupational qualification, or except where based upon applicable security 

regulations established by the United States or the State of West Virginia or its agencies or 

subdivisions: (1) For any employer to discriminate against an individual with respect to 

compensation, hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment if the individual is 

able and competent to perform the services required even if such individual is blind or 

disabled: ... " 

The Complaint is very sparse with detail insofar as specifically alleging the violation of 

the Human Rights Act. In that regard, during his deposition, the Petitioner, Scott Comer, stated 

the following: 

Q: [...JYou claim several things, of course, in your complaint. And one of them is a 
violation of the Human Rights Act. Do you think that you were discharged due to your 
gender? 

A: Due to my gender? 

Q: Yes. 

A: No. 

Q: Do you think you were discharged due to your age? 

A: I don't know. 

Q: Okay. 
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A: I mean, 1-

Q: Do you have any reason to believe that you were? 

A: No. 

Q: You got any reason to believe that you were discharged due to your religious 
preference or anything to that effect? 

A: No. 

Q: Race? 

A: No. 

Q: None of these things? Can you tell me why it is that you believe that you were 
discharged from employment here? 

A: I do not know. Because of my work injury. 

Q: Is that why you think you were discharged, because of your work injury? 

A: Yes. 

Q: Is there any other reason that you believe that you were discharged in this situation? 

A: Not that I would - not that I could think of, no. 


[Scott Comer deposition, pp. 66-67,11.9-24 and 1-18] 


So based upon the testimony of the Petitioner, he believes that he was discharged (which 


the Respondent disputes) due solely to his injuries. 

In this case, as is eminently clear from what the Plaintiff plead, the Petitioner was unable 

to perform the duties of his job with the injury he claimed and the limitations that had been 

placed upon him by his doctor. As the Complaint states, he could perform the job with 

"reasonable accommodations." But he was unable to perform the duties of his job without the 
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"lifter." So in order for Mr. Comer to perform the duties of his job, he needed another employee 

to be present to perform the duties he couldn't perform and solely support him. 

As West Virginia Code 5-11-9(1) states, it shall be a discriminatory practice to 

discriminate against an individual if the individual is able and competent to perform the services 

required. There is no dispute but that the Petitioner was not able and competent to perform the 

duties of his job without another employee assisting him in that effort. Even ifMr. Comer was 

terminated from employment, which the Defendant disputes that he was, Mr. Comer was unable 

to perform the duties of his job and, as such, was not discriminated against by the express 

language of the statute herein. Mr. Comer acknowledged that he could not perform the job duties 

without accommodations . 

. Mr. Comer did not just require "reasonable accommodations" to perform the essential 

duties of his job, he required a separate employee to accompany him and perform his job for him 

in a majority of duties. The Petitioner was unable to perform the essential functions of his job as 

the "lifter" was performing Mr. Comer's job for him. Further, Respondent did provide a "lifter" 

for three (3) months before indicating to Mr. Comer they could no longer afford an employee 

who's sole job was to perform Mr. Comer's job for him. 

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FAYETTE COUNTY DID NOT ERR IN 
GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PLAINTIFF'S WORKERS' 
COMPENSATION DISCRIMINATION CLAIM WHERE NO 
GENUIINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED 

1. Argument 

Count Two, as set forth in the Complaint, consists of three (3) substantive paragraphs. 
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Paragraph 53 sets forth that the Petitioner, Scott Comer, was terminated from employment, 

which is disputed by the Respondent. In paragraph 54 it states that the Plaintiff's attempts to 

receive workers' compensation benefits was a significant factor in Defendant's decision to 

discharge the Plaintiff from employment. Lastly, in paragraph 55 the Complaint alleges that the 

Plaintiff's request for reasonable accommodations was a significant factor in the decision of the 

Defendant to discharge him from employment. 

West Virginia Code 23-5A-I states "No employer shall discriminate in any manner 

against any ofhis present or former employees because of such present or former employee's 

receipt of or attempt to receive benefits under this chapter." Further, West Virginia Code 23-5A

3(a) states "It shall be a discriminatory practice within the meaning of section one of this article 

to terminate an injured employee while the injured employee is off work due to a compensable 

injury within the meaning of article four of this chapter and is receiving or is eligible to receive 

temporary total disability benefits, ... " 

Fundamentally, in order to argue that the Petitioner was discriminated against due to a 

workers' compensation claim, there needs to be a viable workers' compensation claim, not to 

mention a situation where an injury could be deemed compensable. It is without dispute that in 

this case there is no workers' compensation claim that was ever opened and when the Plaintiff 

did seek to open a claim, approximately fifteen (15) months after an injury at the 

recommendation of his counsel, it was denied. 

The injury alleged to have occurred at work was alleged to have occurred on March 2, 

2015. Mr. Comer, after having taken off a couple of days from work, then worked until 
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February, 2016, with no limitations or restrictions. He appeared to have no effect from any 

injury. In order for a workers' compensation claim to be filed for a compensability 

determination, it must be filed within six (6) months of the alleged workplace injury. In this case 

it was finally filed approximately fifteen (15) months later and denied. 

With regard to the claim filed by the Plaintiff in 2016 for workers' compensation 

benefits, Mr. Comer stated the following: 

Q: Okay. So ifwe come back to the May 24,2016 form that you filed, there's a number 
for that form, I know there is, because it's a Workers' Comp, but what happened with 
that? 

A: What happened with that? 

Q: Well, the claim that you filed on May 24,2016. 

A: I was denied. 

Q: When were you denied? 

A: It would have been around the time that I filed with -

Q: June 9, 2016? 

A: Around then, when they processed it and got back to tell me that it was denied. 


[Scott Comer deposition, pp. 51-52, 11. 19-24 and 1-8] 


Mr. Comer further acknowledged that at the time that he alleges he was discharged, there 


was no workers' compensation claim pending: 

Q: You would agree that at the time - and I may have asked this already, so if I have, 
forgive me, but at the time that you allege that you were discharged from employment 
with Priority Ambulance, you would agree that there was no Workers' Compensation 
claim pending at that time. Is that correct? 
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A: Correct. 

Q: And that any claim that you filed thereafter was denied due to time limits of the filing. 
is that correct? 

A: Correct. 

Q: Do you know how long you had to file the claim? 

A: I think six months is the standard -

Q: From when? 

A: -- from what I was told. 

Q: From when? 

A: From the injury. 

Q: Okay. So even in February of2016, when you say Debbie Dunn asked you not to file 
the claim, you were, actually, outside the time frames at that point as well. Is that 
correct? 

A: Yes. 

[Scott Comer deposition, pp. 54,11.4-24 and 1] 

There was going to be no workers' compensation claim in February of2016, nor in May 

of2016, when the claim was denied. Even the Plaintiff acknowledges that he was outside the six 

(6) month time frame. The allegation herein appears to be that the Defendant discriminated 

against the Plaintiff for something that didn't even exist. A workers' compensation claim was 

ultimately filed, after Mr. Comer stopped working for the Respondent, at the behest of his 

current lawyer and was denied. 

The argument made by the Petitioner in regard to this claim is simply inaccurate. To 
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establish the primafacie case of workers' compensation discrimination, the Petitioner needed to 

establish that he instituted workers' compensation proceedings and that the filing of the claim 

Was a significant factor in the employer's decision to discharge the employee. Neither of these 

two (2) of the elements of the claim existed. Mr. Comer filed a workers' compensation claim on 

May 24,2016, four (4) days after he had left the employ of the Respondent. Even the Petitioner 

conceded at that time that he knew he only had six (6) months to file a workers' compensation 

claim and that he had failed to do that. There is absolutely no correlation between any alleged 

discharge and that discharge occurring in retaliation for a non-existent or lapsed workers' 

compensation claim. 

Mr. Comer was originally injured in March, 2015; he is alleged to have suffered an 

aggravation in either December, 2015, or February, 2016. Mr. Comer made his first effort to file 

a workers' compensation claim on May 24,2016. Mr. Comer did work from mid-March, 2015, 

until February, 2016, with no restrictions or other problems even alleged to be related to the 

march 2015, injury. 

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FAYETTE COUNTY DID NOT ERR IN 
GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PLAINTIFF'S VIOLATION 
OF PUBLIC POLICY CLAIM AS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF 
MATERIAL FACT EXISTED 

1. Argument 

Count Three of the Complaint herein consists of one substantive paragraph, which states 

"Defendant's actions constituted unlawful discharge motivated by issues in violation of the 

substantial public policy of the State of West Virginia as articulated in the decision of the West 
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Virginia Supreme Court of Appeal in Harless v. First National Bank in Fairmont, 162 W. Va. 

116,246 S.E. 2d 270 (1978)." 

In this proceeding the Petitioner has consistently alleged that he was terminated from 

employment due to a workers' compensation claim. No workers' compensation claim was 

pending nor was any imminent or possible at the time that the Defendant chose to stop providing 

a "lifter" for Mr. Comer after three (3) months of doing so. No workers' compensation claim was 

ever pending nor was any injury ever determined to be "compensable" as it relates to this 

Petitioner. 

Mr. Comer has consistently maintained throughout this proceeding that he was 

discharged due to his injury which was alleged to have been suffered on March 2,2015, and the 

attendant workers' compensation claim that he apparently was going to file. Mr. Comer was 

going to file the claim, apparently, sometime between February, 2016 and May, 2016, with him 

ultimately filing the same on May 24,2016, at the behest of his lawyer. Despite the allegations of 

the workers' compensation claim being at the center ofthis matter, there never was any workers' 

compensation claim which was deemed compensability herein. The parties, and Mr. Comer 

admitted the same as set forth previously, knew that after six (6) months no claim could be 

successfully filed. Six (6) months from the date of the original injury, which would have been in 

September, 2015. No viable claim existed in May, 2016. 

As a matter of fact, the Respondent had provided an employee who's job it was to assist 

the Petitioner because he couldn't do his job duties due to his injury, or an aggravation of the 

injury. The Respondent had no obligation whatsoever to provide an employee who's sole duty 
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was to assist Mr. Comer with his job. When Mr. Comer was told after three (3) months that the 

Defendant could no longer afford the "lifter," Mr. Comer interpreted that as a discharge and left 

the premises. There is no documentary evidence or other evidence, other than the testimony of 

Scott Comer, to indicate that he was discharged from employment. 

In his deposition, Scott Comer acknowledged that there is no reason that the Defendant 

would retaliate against him. He states: 

Q: I don't understand why it would be a retaliatory discharge, why you would claim that 
it was in your Complaint. No reason that they would have retaliated then. Is that 
correct? 

A: Not that I could think of. 


[Scott Comer deposition, p. 68, 11. 7-11] 


IV. Conclusion 

The Respondent, based upon the record of this proceeding and the foregoing, seeks a 

decision from this Court which affirms the decision ofthe Circuit Court of Fayette County, West 

Virginia, granting summary judgment in the case.